PROCEDURE FOR TAKING SOIL SAMPLES

bv

Y.P. Kalra

FOREST RESEARCH LABORATORY
WINNIPEG, MANITOBA
INFORMATION REPORT MS-X-9

FORESTRY BRANCH
APRIL 1968

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | | | Page |
|----|------|--|---------------------------------|
| 1. | INTR | ODUCTION | 1 |
| _ | | | |
| 2. | EQUI | PMENT NEEDED | 2 |
| | 2.1 | SAMPLING TOOL | 2 |
| | | 2.1.1. Soil sampling auger and probe | 2 |
| | | 2.1.2. Spade | 2 |
| | | 2.1.3. Peat sampler | 2 |
| | 2.2 | OTHER TOOLS | 3 |
| | | 2.2.1. Trowel or large knife | 3 |
| | | 2.2.2. Pick | 3 |
| | | 2.2.3. Scoop | 3 |
| | 2.3 | CONTAINERS | 3 |
| | 2.4 | IDENTIFICATION TAGS | 3 |
| | | | _ |
| 3. | SELE | CTION OF METHOD OF SAMPLING | 3 |
| | 3.1 | INDIVIDUAL SAMPLES | 3 |
| | 3.2 | COMPOSITE SAMPLES | 3 |
| 4. | PROC | EDURE | 4 |
| | 4.1 | PRECAUTIONS | 4 |
| | | 4.1.1. Seasonal changes | 4 |
| • | | 4.1.2. Surface layer of organic material | 4 |
| | | 4.1.3. Avoid contamination | 4 |
| | | 4.1.4. Sample all layers of the profile separately | |
| | | 4.1.5. Remove foreign material | 4 |
| | | 4.1.6. Take a large enough sample | 4 |
| | 4.2 | TAKING AN INDIVIDUAL SAMPLE | 5 |
| | | 4.2.1. Fresh excavation | 5 |
| | | 4.2.2. Expose a profile | 5 |
| | | 4.2.3. Clean the best lighted wall | 5 |
| | | 4.2.4. Description of the profile | 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 |
| | | 4.2.5. Sampling | 5 |
| | | 4.2.6. Before leaving the sampling site | 5 |

| | | Page |
|---|-----|--|
| | | 4.3 TAKING A COMPOSITE SAMPLE |
| | | 4.3.1. Heterogeneity of the area |
| | 5. | IDENTIFICATION OF SAMPLES |
| | 6. | SUBMISSION OF SAMPLES DELAYED IN THE FIELD |
| | 7. | ROUTINE SOIL ANALYSIS |
| | 8. | DISPOSAL OF SAMPLES |
| • | ACK | NOWLEDGEMENTS |
| | SEI | ECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY |
| • | APP | PENDIX 1. REQUEST FOR SOIL ANALYSIS |

PROCEDURE FOR TAKING SOIL SAMPLES

Y.P. Kalra

1. INTRODUCTION

The accuracy of soil analysis depends upon proper care in securing and handling of a sample. Therefore, collecting a sample is the most important step in soil testing. The importance of proper sampling lies in the fact that errors made in collection of the sample cannot be detected or corrected. However, at times it might be possible to detect this when the results of soil analysis do not seem to agree with the plant symptoms observed—and it would be too late then. On the other hand, errors that may have occurred in the laboratory when the samples are being analysed can be detected by an experienced soil analyst since many soil properties show a close interdependence. Therefore, it will merely be a waste of time and money if analysis is carried out on samples that have not been collected and handled properly. "It is wasteful to use laboratory facilities and time on poorly collected soil samples or those without adequate descriptions and names."*

Sampling technique and care during sampling will depend partly on the purpose of the analysis, i.e. soil fertility evaluation or soil classification and mapping. Soil Survey Groups are interested in collecting samples of genetic horizons while Soil Fertility Groups are interested mainly in sampling soil from arbitrary depths.

It must be pointed out here that for many projects all the analyses mentioned in Section 7 (which are particularly useful for soil fertility evaluation) are not required. Therefore, only a part of these analyses would be done if the soil sampler has so indicated. It is suggested that the sampler should contact Soils Laboratory, if necessary, for advice as to which analyses may be required for his particular project. In addition to the Routine Soil Analysis (Section 7) extensive and laborious analyses for specific purposes can be performed in Soils Laboratory depending upon the objective of the project concerned.

^{*} Soil Survey Manual, U.S.D.A. Hdbk. No. 18, 1951, p. 327.

2. EQUIPMENT NEEDED

2.1 SAMPLING TOOL

The sampling tool should provide a sample of uniform cross-section throughout the sampling depth.

2.1.1. Soil sampling auger and probe

When individual samples are to be collected, use an auger or probe only to explore the soil to find variation in the field (both vertical and horizontal) and thus select a suitable location for sampling. Sampling must not be done by augers or probes if individual samples are to be collected for soil classification purposes.

When the soil samples are collected for fertility evaluation, e.g. for nurseries, a soil auger or soil tube may be used, particularly when sampling subsurface soils. Use a soil tube or barrel-type auger for a small or large sample, respectively. Augers are particularly useful for sampling heavy soils. However, one problem that arises in using the common soil auger is that the soil from upper depths may contaminate the soil sampled from the lower horizons. The core- or posttype augers are generally better than the screw- or worm-type soil augers, the former being useful in dry regions and the latter is good in wet regions. Put permanent scale marks on the shaft of the auger from the tip to find horizon depth. For some purposes the auger is superior and faster than the spade. However, soil structure is destroyed if the auger is used-especially the screw-type auger. Sampling tubes are well adapted for sampling moist, medium-textured, nonstony soils. The limitation with the samples taken with tube is that supplementary observations of the undisturbed soils cannot be taken. At the same time, they are difficult to use in dry, stony, clayey or very sandy soils. The soil tube or auger should be inserted in the soil to the desired depth and the core of soil thus removed should be collected.

2.1.2. Spade

It is used to dig a soil pit—a must when collecting samples for soil survey purposes. Samples of surface soils, in soil fertility evaluation, can conveniently be taken with a round-point trenching spade which is especially convenient for stony, dry, clayey soils.

2.1.3. Peat Sampler

A specially designed peat sampler should be used to collect peat or marl samples from beneath the water table. Surface samples can be safely collected by trenching into the peat and sampling from the desired stratum.

2.2 OTHER TOOLS

2.2.1. Trowel or large knife

Trowel or large knife, e.g. hunting knife, bayonet, etc. is used to clean and smoothen the wall of the pit.

2.2.2. Pick

A small steel pick is useful for examining the soil profile (4.2.4.).

2.2.3. Scoop

It is used to fill sample bags. A trowel may also be used for this purpose.

2.3 CONTAINERS

Plastic bags should be used for collecting moist soil. However, cardboard cartons can also be used if the samples are not too moist. It is much more convenient to carry plastic bags to the field than the cartons. Moreover, moist samples will damage the carton. Therefore, it is preferable to use a plastic bag. Moist samples should not be placed in paper bags.

2.4 IDENTIFICATION TAGS

They are used to supply information required in Section 5.

3. SELECTION OF METHOD OF SAMPLING

Individual samples may be retained separately or samples may be composited depending upon the purpose for which the soil samples are required.

3.1 INDIVIDUAL SAMPLES

Samples should not be composited if analysis of a specific spot is required. Samples from different pits must be analyzed separately if the object of the study is to establish an estimate of variability of the nutrient level or some other properties of soil in a particular plot. It must be pointed out here that individual samples have little or no value for the evaluation of soil fertility status of a soil, e.g. nursery block.

3.2 COMPOSITE SAMPLES

A bulk sample can be prepared by pooling the soil from different spots and then analyzing a subsample which will give a representative analysis of the given area. Composite sampling is essential when the soil is being analyzed to estimate the portential fertility of soils. Analysis of a composite sample will give an estimate of the mean nutrient status. Composite samples have little value for soil survey work where emphasis is given for analyzing individual samples to study the genetic nature of soils.

4. PROCEDURE

The points described below or some modification of them to meet individual needs, in general, would help in obtaining a good soil sample and its subsequent handling.

4.1 PRECAUTIONS

4.1.1. Seasonal changes

Scil properties such as pH, available phosphorus, and available potassium levels show variation with the season. Therefore, seasonal variation should be taken into consideration when interpreting soil test results, particularly in long term experiments.

4.1.2. Surface layer of organic material

Since forest soils usually have a well established layer of organic material on the surface, all organic material not incorporated with soil should be scraped away or collected separately from the rest of the soil before a sample is taken. It must be remembered at this point that with some trees, e.g. fir, spruce, etc., most of the fine feeding roots are in this humus layer and, therefore, it should be analyzed separately since in these cases this layer supplies a major part of the nutrients absorbed by trees.

4.1.3. Avoid contamination

Great care must be exercised to avoid contamination of the sample with other soil, fertilizer, manure, crop residue, or any other foreign material.

4.1.4. Sample all layers of the profile separately

Do not mix soil from different horizons or depths since soils vary both horizontally and vertically.

4.1.5. Remove foreign material

Remove roots, leaves, stones, large gravel and any other foreign material. However, do not discard gravel from highly gravelly soil because finer particles are often deposited on the gravel. Do not remove stone or gravel if their weight is required.

4.1.6. Take a large enough sample

The size of the sample for submission will depend on the number and type of analyses required. Submit about one quart soil so that analyses may be carried out and whenever desired, alternative procedures may be used to compare methods of analysis and also to run duplicate analyses. Also, sometimes it may be desirable to use the remainder of the soil to try new methods or to standardize some procedure if some soil has been found to have some interesting characteristics.

4.2 TAKING AN INDIVIDUAL SAMPLE

4.2.1. Fresh excavation

Always take a sample from a fresh excavation made through the soil and into the parent material. Do not take samples from road cuts or old excavations without exposing a fresh face.

4.2.2. Expose a profile

After the site has been chosen, dig a rectangular pit with a round mouth spade since using auger may create error due to rodent holes or other unconformities that cannot be seen. The pit should be deep enough to expose the parent material.

4.2.3. Clean the best lighted wall

One wall of the pit should be cleaned and smoothed with a trowel or large knife, e.g. hunting knife, bayonet, etc. The wall which is cleaned must be uniformly lighted by sun so that different horizons can be easily examined.

4.2.4. Description of the profile

Describe the soil profile by marking off the recognizable horizons and writing down the depth of each horizon and all other visible characteristics. Each horizon may be subdivided if more detailed information is required. Zones of transition are found between adjacent horizons in many profiles.

4.2.5. Sampling

Once the width of a horizon has been determined, take a sample several inches in depth near the centre of the horizon without attempting to collect sample from the whole depth of the horizon.

4.2.6. Before leaving the sampling site

After observation and taking soil sample, the pit should be filled with the soil and tamped down.

4.3 TAKING A COMPOSITE SAMPLE

4.3.1. Heterogeneity of the area

Divide the area into different sampling areas depending upon visual inspection of differences in soil type, their parent material, micro-relief, texture, color, i.e. light colored separate from dark colored, surface drainage, proximity to trees, degree of erosion, plant growth, land use, vegetation, past management e.g. fertilization, etc., topographic location, ground cover, genetic features and any other distinct visual variations. Each homogenous area should be sampled and analyzed separately.

4.3.2. Unusual spots

Sample only uniform areas and when it is difficult to select a homogeneous area select as nearly uniform area as possible. Disregard (or sample separately, if dominant and if the sampler is especially interested) any unusual spots such as low spots, saline or other unusual areas, knolls, terrace channels, wet spots, swampy areas, areas near lime-rock roads, areas near the boundary between slopes and bottomland and areas along fertilizer bands, windbreaks, shelterbelts, snow fence, and old fence line. Samples from high spots and low spots should never be mixed together in an effort to obtain a representative sample of the two spots. If the whole field is to be fertilized as a unit, then no attempt should be made to divide the field for sampling but the problem spots should be left out.

4.3.3. Depth of sample

What depth should be taken would depend on the purpose of the experiment. Soil samples for trees must include more than just top 0-6" depth. Several arbitrary depths, e.g. 0-6", 6-12" and 12-24" are taken for fertility evaluation (0-6" for nursery soils).

4.3.4. Selection of sampling points

The location of a point for boring should be selected.

"Random method" consists of selecting the points by complete randomization and should not have a personal bias. In the "stratified random method" the points are allocated equally to several strata and then some points are selected at random within strata. A random starting point is taken to place the grid in "random grid method" and the samples are taken at the intersections of grid lines. For the "zig-zag pattern" a random starting point is taken and the samples are collected uniformly along the zig-zag path.

4.3.5. Comparison of plots

If a number of plots of the same size and different treatments are being compared for fertility evaluation, e.g. nurseries, etc., it is essential that the same number of cores should be taken from all the plots and the samples from one plot should not be mixed with the samples from other plots.

4.3.6. Number of sampling sites

Generally 10-15 cores should be taken from an acre of land. The number and spacings of borings that would make up a composite sample would depend on the size of the area, magnitude of variability, degree of accuracy required, and the purpose of the analysis. More sites should be selected for cultivated soils than virgin soils. More sites should be selected for saline and alkali soils than for normal soils.

4.3.7. Volume basis

Take uniform volumes of the soil from each core. Do not mix samples of unlike horizons.

4.3.8. Composite sample

Collect the samples in a clean pail or other suitable container. All samples should have the same color and texture. Break the clods and thoroughly mix the samples of the same horizon collected from different parts of the area to form one composite or bulk sample. Take about a quart of the soil.

5. IDENTIFICATION OF SAMPLES

Place the sample in the plastic bag and tie the identification tag around the neck. Supply identification information as indicated on the tag. Identification tags for soil samples submitted to the Soils Laboratory should contain information in the following order: name of the soil sampler, year of sampling (or date) and sample number and horizon designation or depth. (Tags are available from Soils Laboratory.)

Or use abbreviation to form a three-part symbol: Part 1--the name of the sampler, Part 2--last two digits of the year when the sample was collected, and Part 3 -- a number designating the number of the soil sample, and horizon designation or depth, e.g. Zoltai-68-1 Bt. A laboratory number will be assigned to each sample submitted. In case a carton, e.g. one quart ice cream carton, is used, place an identification tag in it. Since in this case the tag in the carton comes in contact with soil, information on the tag may not remain in a readable condition if soil is moist. Therefore, in addition to placing a tag in the carton, the information should be written on the carton. It is suggested that the bag of moist soil should be placed in another plastic bag and the tag be placed between these two bags, to protect the tag from becoming moist. An identification tag should be tied around the neck of the bag. To avoid confusion, label the samples as soon as they have been collected. Send the samples to the Soils Laboratory for drying and subsequent handling of the samples. Complete a "Request for Soil Analysis" form (Appendix 1).

For the interpretation of results it is very important that you keep an accurate record of the exact areas sampled. Familiarize yourself with the soils, vegetation, cultural practices and history. An idea of the general growth and vigor of a stand of trees will be helpful in the interpretation of the soil tests. Site and profile description of the soils sampled is necessary for the interpretation of the results obtained in the Soils Laboratory. For the interpretation of the analytical information it should be pointed out that a soil test gives the fertility status of a

soil but fertility is only a part of the productivity which is not an inherent quality of the soil. Besides the fertility status, other factors such as drainage conditions, past management, e.g. fertilization, etc., climatic conditions, erosion, etc. must be taken into consideration for the interpretation and making a recommendation. Soil productivity is the resultant of a multitude of factors—soil fertility being one of them.

6. SUBMISSION OF SAMPLES DELAYED IN THE FIELD

The samples should be sent to the Soils Laboratory as soon as possible after they have been collected. If the samples cannot be sent to the Soils Laboratory for air-drying, spread out the soil to dry in a thin layer on a clean wooden tray or a clean sheet of strong wrapping paper or wax paper for about two days in a sunny place or a room ensuring that it is not contaminated by dust or fumes. Dry the samples as soon as possible after they have been collected because on storing a moist soil, changes in the chemical status of some ions, e.g. NO3, organic matter, etc. may occur. Do not use oven to hasten drying. Break the soil clods when the soil is moist and also during the air-drying process when it is at a favourable moisture content. This is very important particularly in case of clayey soils. Breaking the clods will help in the subsequent process of drying, mixing, and subsampling. Clay soils are very difficult to grind once they have dried and therefore, the soil lumps must be broken when the samples are air-drying. Air-dried soils can be stored for reasonably long periods without any significant chemical changes.

7. ROUTINE SOIL ANALYSIS

The soils will be air-dried and ground by a mechanical soil grinding mill and sieved in the laboratory for final analysis.

Usually, as a routine analysis, soil samples will be analyzed for the following characteristics (please see Section 1).

Texture; presence or absence of free carbonates; degree of acidity or alkalinity (pH); amounts of soluble salts (conductivity) and qualitative tests for soluble salts if conductivity is greater than 4 mmhos/cm; organic matter; available and/or total nitrogen (N); available phospherus (P); exchangeable potassium (K), and cation exchange capacity.

8. DISPOSAL OF SAMPLES

After soil analysis, the samples will be discarded unless requested otherwise.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Appreciation is extended to Mr. S.C. Zoltai, Head, Land Classification, Dr. S.R.H. Shah, Head, Landscape Ecology, and Dr. I.K. Edwards, Research Scientist for the review and constructive criticism of the manuscript.

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Aljibury, F.K. and D.D. Evans. 1961. Soil sampling for moisture retention and bulk density measurements. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 25: 180-183.
- 2. Allmaras, R.R. and C.O. Gardner. 1956. Soil sampling for moisture determination in irrigation experiments. Agron. Jour. 48: 15-17.
- 3. Assoc. of Official Agricultural Chemists. 1955. Official Methods of Analysis. 8th ed. pl.
- 4. Baker, H. and A.R. Clapham. 1939. Seasonal variations in the acidity of some woodland soils. Jour. Ecol. 27: 114-125.
- 5. Baver, L.D. 1927. Factors affecting the hydrogen-ion concentration of soils. Soil Sci. 23: 399-414.
- Bear, F.E. and G.M. McClure. 1920. Sampling soil plots. Soil Sci. 9: 65-75.
- 7. Bell, A.P. and S.F. Thornton. 1937. The effect of season and fertilization on results of rapid chemical tests. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 2: 167-171.
- 8. Burd, J.S. and J.C. Martin. 1924. Secular and seasonal changes in the soil solution. Soil Sci. 18: 151-167.
- 9. Burns, A.F. and S.A. Barber. 1961. The effect of temperature and moisture on exchangeable potassium. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 25: 349-352.
- 10. Chapman, H.D. and P.F. Pratt. 1961. Methods of Analysis for Soils, Plants and Waters. Univ. of Calif., Riverside, California pp 1-6.
- 11. Childs, F.D. and E.M. Jencks. 1967. Effect of time and depth of sampling upon soil test results. Agron. Jour. 59: 537-540.
- 12. Clarke, G.R. 1957. The Study of the Soil in the Field. 4th ed. University Press, Oxford. pp 49-126.
- 13. Cline, M.G. 1944. Principles of soil sampling. Soil Sci. 58: 275-288.
- 14. Cline, M.G. 1945. Methods of collecting and preparing soil samples. Soil Sci. 59: 3-5.
- 15. Cole, R.C. 1937. A soil auger for dry soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. (1936) 1: 305-306.
- 16. Day, J.H., F.S. Nowosad, and D.J. Cooper. 1961. Note on improved soil borer for sampling in permafrost. Can. Jour. Soil Sci. 41: 138-139.

- 17. Downes, R.G. and R.S. Beckwith. 1951. Studies in the variation of soil reaction. I. Field variations at Barooga, N.S.W. Austr. Jour. Agric. Res. 2: 60-72.
- 18. Ferrari, T.J. and F.H.B. Vermeulen. 1956. Soil heterogeneity and soil testing. The Organisation and Rationalisation of Soil Analysis. Project No. 156. Published by the European Productivity Agency of the Organisation for European Economic Co-operation, Paris. pp 113-126.
- 19. Fine, L.O., T.A. Bailey, and E. Truog. 1940. Availability of fixed potassium as influenced by freezing and thawing. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 5: 183-186.
- 20. Fitts, J.W. and W.L. Nelson. 1956. The determination of lime and fertilizer requirements of soils through chemical tests.

 Advances in Agron. 8: 241-282.
- 21. Forest Soils Committee of the Douglas Fir Region. 1953. Sampling procedures and methods of analysis for forest soils. (Mimeogr.)
 Published by Univ. of Washington, College of Forestry, Seattle.
- 22. Frankland, J.C., J.D. Ovington, and C. Macrae. 1963. Spatial and seasonal variations in soil, litter, and ground vegetation in some Lake District woodlands. Jour. Ecol. 51: 97-112.
- 23. Frear, W. and E.S. Erb. 1920. A study in soil sampling. Jour. Assoc. Off. Agric. Chem. 4: 98-103.
- 24. Groenewoud, H. van. 1960. Methods and samplers for obtaining undisturbed soil samples in forest. Soil Sci. 90: 272-274.
- 25. Hammond, L.E., W.L. Pritchett, and V. Chew. 1958. Soil sampling in relation to soil heterogeneity. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 22: 548-552.
- 26. Harris, A.J. 1915. On a criterion of substratum homogeneity (or heterogeneity) in field experiments. Am. Nat. 49: 430-454.
- 27. Hart, J.B. Jr. 1966. Irrigation-fertilization project. I. Soil variability and II. Design and instrumentation. M.S. Thesis. State Univ. Coll. of Forestry at Syracuse Univ., Syracuse, New York.
- 28. Hart, J.B. Jr. and A.L. Leaf. 1967. Spatial heterogeneity of available potassium within an outwash soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. (In print).
- 29. Hemingsway, G.R. 1955. Soil-sampling errors and advisory analyses. Jour. Agr. Sci. 46: 1-8.
- 30. Holowaychuk, N., L.P. Wilding, and P.L. Gersper. 1965. A core sampler for organic deposits. Can. Jour. Soil Sci. 45: 108-110.

- 31. Jackson, M.L. 1962. Soil Chemical Analysis. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey. pp 10-37.
- 32. Jacobs, W.C. and A. Klute. 1956. Sampling soils for physical and chemical properties. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 20: 170-172.
- 33. Kelley, O.J. and H.R. Haise. 1947. A soil-sampling machine for obtaining undisturbed cores. Jour. Am. Soc. Agron. 39: 828-830.
- 34. Kelley, O.J., J.A. Hardman, and D.S. Jennings. 1948. A soil-sampling machine for obtaining two-, three-, and four-inch diameter cores of undisturbed soil to a depth of six feet. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. (1947) 12: 85-87.
- 35. Kitchen, H.B. (Ed.) 1948. Diagnostic Techniques for Soils and Crops.

 Am. Potash Inst., Washington 8, D.C. pp 88-90 and 107-109.
- 36. Knudsen, D. 1957. How to get good soil samples. Nebraska Agrl. Extension Service. Circular 56-116.
- 37. Leaf, A.L. 1965. Soil and tissue analysis methodology. Nursery Soil Improvement Sessions Proc., State Univ. Coll. of Forestry at Syracuse Univ., Syracuse, New York on Jan. 25-28, 1965. pp 64-72.
- 38. Leaf, A.L. 1967. K, Mg, and S deficiencies in forest trees: reported symptoms, geographic locations and conditions predisposing soils to these deficiencies. Proc. For. Fert. Symp. T.V.A. Gainesville, Florida (In press).
- 39. Leather, J.W. 1902. The sampling of soils. Jour. Chem. Soc. 81: 883-887.
- 40. Lull, H.W. and J.H. Axley. 1958. Forest soil-moisture relations in the coastal plain sands of southern New Jersey. For. Sci. 4: 2-19.
- 41. Lunt, H.A., C.L.W. Swanson and H.G.M. Jacobson. 1950. The Morgan Soil Testing System. Conn. Agric. Exp. Sta. Bull. 541. pp 7-9.
- 42. Mader, D.L. 1963. Soil variability A serious problem in soil-site studies in the Northeast. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 27: 707-709.
- 43. Marsh, A.W. and L.R. Swarner. 1949. The collection and study of natural soil cores for determining irrigation properties.

 Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. (1948). 13: 515-518.
- 44. McFee, W.W. and E.L. Stone. 1965. Quantity distribution, and variability of organic matter and nutrients in a forest podzol in New York. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 29: 432-436.
- 45. McKenzie, R.M. 1955. Sampling variations in the concentrations of elements in soils. Austr. Jour. Agr. Res. 6: 699-706.

- 46. Metz, L.J., C.G. Wells, and B. Swindel. 1966. Sampling soil and foliage in a pine plantation. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 30: 397-399.
- 47. Nikiforoff, C.C. 1937. Method of recording soil data. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. (1936). 1: 307-317.
- 48. Piper, C.S. 1942. Soil and Plant Analysis. The Hassel Press, Adelaide, Australia. pp 1-4.
- 49. Pizer, N.H. 1945. Soil analysis and advisory problems III.

 Agriculture 52: 270-276.
- 50. Potzger, J.E. 1955. A borer for sampling in permafrost. Ecol. 36: 161.
- 51. Raupach, M. 1951. Studies in the variation of soil reaction. II. Seasonal variations at Barooga, N.S.W. Austr. Jour. Agric. Res. 2: 73-82.
- 52. Raupach, M. 1951. Studies in the variation of soil reaction. III.

 Variations at the Waite Agricultural Research Institute. Austr.

 Jour. Agr. Res. 2: 83-91.
- 53. Reed, J.F. 1941. Available nutrients in fertilized soils at various periods of the year. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 6: 246-251.
- 54. Reed, J.F. and J.A. Rigney. 1947. Soil sampling from fields of uniform and non-uniform appearance and soil types. Jour. Am. Soc.

 Agron. 39: 26-40.
- 55. Reigner, I.C. and J.J. Phillips. 1964. Variations in bulk density and moisture content within two New Jersey coastal plain soils,

 Lakeland and Lakehurst sands. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 28: 287-289.
- 56. Reynolds, E.B. and J.S. Smith. 1947. The effect of fertilizer treatments and dates of sampling on the easily soluble phosphorus in soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. (1946) 11: 198-200.
- 57. Richards, L.A. (Ed.). 1954. Diagnosis and Improvement of Saline and Alkali Soils. U.S.D.A. Hdbk. No. 60, pp 83-84.
- 58. Riehm, H. 1956. Methods of soil sampling and preparation of samples.

 The Organisation and Rationalisation of Soil Analysis. Project
 No. 156. Published by the European Productivity Agency of the
 Organisation for European Economic Co-operation, Paris.

 pp 93-112.
- 59. Rigney, J.A. 1956. Sampling soils for composition studies. Am. Soc. Hort. Sc. Proc. 68: 569-574.

- 60. Rigney, J.A. and J.F. Reed. 1946. Some factors affecting the accuracy of soil sampling. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. (1945) 10: 257-259.
- 61. Robertson, G.M. and K. Simpson. 1954. Variations in the chemical composition of soils as found on repeated sampling and analysis. Edinb. and East of Scotland Coll. Agric. Tech. Bull. No. 8, 7-32.
- 62. Robinson, G.W. and W.E. Lloyd. 1915. On the probable error of sampling in soil surveys. Jour. Agric. Sci. 7::144-153.
- 63. Sayegh, A.H., L.A. Alban, and R.G. Peterson. 1958. A sampling study in a saline and alkali area. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 22: 252-254.
- 64. Soil Survey Staff. 1951. Soil Survey Manual. U.S.D.A. Hdbk. No. 18. pp 123-145, 173-188, 327-338 and 365-395.
- 65. Stone, E.L. Jr. 1965. Nursery soil fertility. Nursery Soil Improvement Sessions Proc., State Univ. Coll. of Forestry at Syracuse Univ., Syracuse, New York, on Jan. 25-28, 1965. pp 16-27.
- 66. Welch, C.D. and J.W. Fitts. 1956. Some factors affecting soil sampling. Soil Sei. Sec. Am. Proc. 20: 54-56.
- 67. Wilde, S.A., G.K. Voigt, and J.G. Iyer. 1964. Soil and Plant Analysis for Tree Culture. Oxford Publ. House, Calcutta, India.
- 68. Youden, W.J. and A. Mehlich. 1937-1938. Selection of efficient methods for soil sampling. Contributions from Boyce Thompson Institute 9: 59-70.

APPENDIX 1. REQUEST FOR SOIL ANALYSIS

| Research Scientist | Please do not write in this space. | | |
|---|---|--|--|
| Project | III with beace. | | |
| | Leb No. From To | | |
| | Job No. | | |
| | | | |
| Have the samples been air-dried? Yes | No | | |
| Samples submitted to the Soils Laboratory on (D | | | |
| Results of analysis needed on (Date) | | | |
| Total number of samples submitted | онсужения меняти по при | | |
| Types of analyses required: | | | |

f * Copies of this form are available from Soils Laboratory.